STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable Larry Hyman, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

Opinion No. 5767 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed August 19, 2020)

2013-CP-08-02121  
\_\_\_\_\_

JUSTIN RYAN HILLERBY,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001666  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS  
\_\_\_\_\_

TAYLOR D GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**  
**Oct 21 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

**

**QUESTION PRESENTED**

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court, where trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing both to consult with a forensic pathologist and to present the testimony of a forensic pathologist at trial, where the testimony would have shown that Petitioner did not kill the decedent?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 17, 2008, Petitioner was indicted by a Berkeley County grand jury on the charge of homicide by child abuse. App. 955 – 956. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington on February 22, 2010. App. 1. J. Michael Bosnak represented Petitioner; Anne Williams and Dori Biagianti appeared on behalf of the state. The jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 832 ll. 1 – 5. Judge Harrington sentenced him to life imprisonment. App. 841 ll. 13 – 16.

Petitioner's conviction was affirmed. State v. Hillerby, No. 2013-UP-300 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 19, 2013). He then filed an application for post-conviction relief on September 19, 2013. App. 941. It contained allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The state made its Return on or about December 30, 2014. App. 949 – 953. An amended application for post-conviction relief was filed on August 31, 2015. App. 962.

An evidentiary hearing on the PCR application was held on September 8, 2015 before the Honorable Larry Hyman. App. 965. Jeremy Thompson represented Petitioner, and Rutledge Johnson appeared on behalf of the state. Judge Hyman heard from six witnesses, and numerous exhibits were entered into evidence. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Hyman requested proposed orders from both parties. App. 1075 l. 25 – 1076 l. 6.

An Order of Dismissal was filed on January 21, 2016. App. 1155. The PCR court found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof. App. 1167. PCR counsel filed a motion to alter or amend under Rule 59(e), SCRPC, on February 1, 2016. App. 1172. A hearing on the motion occurred on June 13, 2016 with the same counsel before Judge Hyman. App. 1177. The motion was denied at the conclusion of the hearing. App. 1182 ll. 16 – 25. The denial was

reduced to written form by way of an Order Denying Applicant's Motion to Alter or Amend filed July 22, 2016. App. 1185 – 1186.

PCR Counsel Thompson filed a Notice of Appeal on August 9, 2016. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed with this Court on January 30, 2017. The state filed its Return on May 31, 2017. Counsel Thompson filed a Reply on July 6, 2017. This matter was then transferred to the Court of Appeals on October 30, 2017.

Certiorari was granted by the Court of Appeals on February 6, 2019. Counsel Thompson filed the Brief of Petitioner on June 6, 2019. The state filed its Brief of Respondent on October 10, 2019. Counsel Thompson withdrew from the case after accepting employment with the Appellate Division of the Federal Public Defender's Office.

The Court of Appeals issued its opinion affirming the PCR court on August 19, 2020. The undersigned filed a Petition for Rehearing on September 9, 2020 which was denied on September 21, 2020.

This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court, where trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing both to consult with a forensic pathologist and to present the testimony of a forensic pathologist at trial, where the testimony would have shown that Petitioner did not kill the decedent.**

### Relevant facts

In September 2008, Petitioner lived with his girlfriend, Jennifer, in her home and with her two children: an eight-year-old daughter and an almost two-year-old son. Two other individuals also lived with them: Brandi Mihill and Eric Riggins. Petitioner was indicted following the son's death.

On September 14, 2008, Petitioner, Jennifer, and Jennifer's children went to a pool for several hours. Jennifer testified that they returned home between 6:00 and 6:30 p.m., and that she went out after 7:00 p.m. with a friend named Jennifer Angel for several hours. App. 301 ll. 2 – 21. When she returned, she woke up Petitioner, who was asleep on the couch. App. 302 l. 22 – 303, l. 2. She checked her son's baby monitor, spoke with the roommates Brandi and Eric, and then went to sleep. App. 303 ll. 14 – 18.

Around 10:00 a.m. the next morning, Jennifer checked on her son. She found that he was cold and stiff and that there was blood on his nose and on his crib mattress. App. 304 l. 3 – 305 l. 25. She then called 911. App. 306 ll. 8 – 22.

Two days later, Dr. Nicholas Batalis conducted the autopsy of the decedent. He concluded that the cause of death was blunt force trauma to the head. App. 523 ll. 20 – 25. Dr. Batalis became board certified in forensic pathology on September 4, 2008, only twelve days prior to the autopsy. App. 1105. He testified that the decedent had at least nine specific points

of impact to his head which caused hemorrhaging, in addition to several bruises on his face. App. 524 l. 15 – 525 l. 8. Dr. Batalis offered possible examples of blunt force trauma: “it could be a book, it could be a fist, and ... alternatively, the child could have been pushed against something that the head could have struck against a doorway, a desk, many different ways.” App. 525 ll. 9 – 20. Dr. Batalis testified that the child likely died between two and twelve hours before he was found. App. 523 ll. 2 – 19.

Petitioner gave varying accounts of his actions the night the decedent passed. Initially, while at the scene, Petitioner told law enforcement he noticed a bruise on the child’s face after leaving the pool and that the child acted drowsy that evening. He did not admit to striking the child. App. 472 ll. 4 – 14. On September 17, 2008, Petitioner told police that he accidentally struck the child’s head with his knee and that he also may have accidentally “clipped his head on the way to his crib and maybe again on his crib.” App. 478 l. 22 – 479 l. 2. After providing this second statement, Petitioner was arrested for homicide by child abuse. App. 483 ll. 14 – 20.

After his bond hearing, Petitioner gave a third statement wherein he admitted to striking the child with an open hand twice, with one of the blows knocking the child to the floor. App. 484 ll. 6 – 13; App. 490 ll. 4 – 13. Petitioner was recorded on a telephone call with Jennifer while in jail. During that conversation, Petitioner stated:

Baby, I smacked him. I didn’t smack him that hard, but when he hit the floor is when, I guess, it started. And, I didn’t notice it because I was drunk, I guess. And, I put him on the futon.

App. 1136 ll. 2 – 6. Petitioner testified in his defense at trial. He admitted to accidentally striking the child’s head with his leg.<sup>1</sup> App. 635 l. 25 – 637 l. 15. Notably, he denied hurting the child. App. 672 ll. 4 – 24.

Petitioner was convicted largely upon his statements. There was little to no forensic evidence recovered at the home. A paint roller handle was recovered from the floor near the child’s crib. App. 364 l. 23 – 365 l. 14. The handle was tested for blood, but the test was negative. App. 412 l. 4 – 414 l. 21. No DNA tests were performed on the handle. App. 424 ll. 8 – 18.

In Petitioner’s amended application for post-conviction relief, he contended that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with a forensic pathologist prior to trial and for failing to investigate a defense that someone other than Petitioner killed the child. App. 962. At the PCR evidentiary hearing, Petitioner presented the testimony of Dr. Michael Baden, a renowned forensic pathologist.<sup>2</sup> Without objection, he was qualified as an expert in the field of forensic pathology. App. 974 l. 25 – 975 l. 5. In addition to being qualified and credible, he stated at the outset of his testimony at the PCR evidentiary hearing that his “role is, regardless of whether asked by the prosecution or defense, to give the best scientific evaluation of each death that a forensic pathologist is trained to investigate.” App. 974 ll. 21 – 24.

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner offered a different version of what transpired at the PCR evidentiary hearing. There, he suggested that his trial testimony was partially untrue in that he did not strike the child in any way the night of the child’s death. App. 1033 ll. 2 – 17; App. 1036 ll. 8 – 22.

<sup>2</sup> Dr. Baden is the former chief medical examiner for New York City and has held many prestigious positions, including Chairman of the Forensic Pathology Panel of the U.S. Congress Select Committees on Assassinations, which reinvestigated the deaths of President John F. Kennedy and Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr, in the 1970’s. He has conducted over 20,000 autopsies. App. 1078 – 1101.

Dr. Baden's ultimate conclusion was that the child was not killed by an adult, but rather a child:

[I]t is not likely that any adult caused the death of the child, and in my opinion, and my experience, it is typical for a sibling or for another child to injure a child in this fashion and it is not at all the pattern of injuries that I have seen in 50 years caused by an adult.

App. 999 ll. 19 – 24.

It was Dr. Baden's opinion that the child's injuries were caused by a narrow object which struck the child more than fifty times, rather than a fist or large object. App. 977 l. 12 – 978 l. 6. He testified that, "based on hundreds of child abuse cases [he has] investigated," the child's injuries were most consisted with an older child striking the younger child repeatedly. The child's older sister was also present in the home with Petitioner and the child the night of the child's death.

Reviewing the photographs from trial, Dr. Baden indicated that the injuries could not have been caused by a fist, for a fist "would have [left] a more diffuse nonspecific bruise." App. 984 ll. 16 – 22. His testimony was unequivocal:

There were no fractures here. There were just maybe, in my reviewing all the photographs, more than 50 different small blunt force impacts of the whole body, including the head and face, and that this is what I've seen in the past, so it's been described that occurs in sibling rivalry-type deaths, where one older child can beat up on the new baby that's getting so much attention and uses a toy or a stick to injure the baby.

And so, in my opinion, based on hundreds of child abuse cases I've investigated, this is not at all the pattern of an adult and is the pattern of a child.

App. 978 ll. 2 – 14.

Dr. Baden also testified that the paint roller handle would have left marks consistent with the injuries shown in the child's autopsy. App. 996 l. 8 – 997 l. 15. He pointed out that Dr. Batalis should have compared the handle to the child's injuries. Id.

Dr. Baden also testified that the child's injuries were not consistent with the punch of an adult male, the slap of an adult male, a strike by the knee of an adult male, or the striking of the child's head on a wall by an adult male. App. 1007 ll. 2 – 24. Additionally, Dr. Baden refuted Dr. Batalis' conclusion that the markings on the child's body were caused by settling in a cooler, noting that such markings would be much larger and would not result in "local circular bruises." App. 998 l. 23 – 999 l. 7.

At the PCR hearing, both Petitioner and his mother, Vicki Williams, indicated that they were under the impression that trial counsel was going to retain a medical expert to challenge Dr. Batalis' conclusions, and they believed this was going to be an essential aspect of Petitioner's defense at trial. App. 1031 l. 17 – 1032 l. 10; App. 1044 l. 18 – 1045 l. 20. Ms. Williams confirmed her son's testimony that trial counsel was supposed to consult with a forensic pathologist:

And he told me at that time that he knew somebody - - I believe the state he said was North Carolina, I'm not sure about that - - but he said he knew somebody in another state **that was a forensic pathologist that would go over the autopsy photographs** and stuff.

App. 1045 ll. 4 – 9 (emphasis added).

Even though Petitioner provided funding, trial counsel admitted that he did not consult with a forensic pathologist prior to trial. App. 1031 l. 17 - 1032 l. 10; App. 1067 ll. 17 – 20. He consulted with a pediatrician, Dr. Betsy Gibbs, who allegedly concluded that the child's injuries were caused by Petitioner. App. 1054 l. 20 – 1056 l. 11. At the time of the evidentiary hearing, counsel was unsure what type of doctor Dr. Gibbs was. App. 1067 ll. 11 – 20. He recalled that Dr. Gibbs was used frequently by the solicitor's office in child abuse cases. App. 1055 ll. 1 – 12. Unsurprisingly, Dr. Gibbs, who was not a forensic pathologist, would not have served as a favorable witness. App. 1055 l. 14 – 1056 l. 11. After learning that her testimony would not

assist Petitioner, it does not appear from the record that trial counsel consulted with any additional medical experts.

He hired a DNA expert, Dr. Ronald Orłowski. App. 1052 l. 16 – 1057 l. 24. Trial counsel provided some of the evidence to Dr. Orłowski via FedEx. App. 1052 l. 18 – 1054 l. 21. According to trial counsel, Dr. Orłowski provided favorable feedback. App. 1058 l. 17 – 1059 l. 1. Seemingly foregoing any applicable defenses derived from conversations with Dr. Orłowski, after listening to the recorded jail call, trial counsel testified that he was convinced the jury would convict Petitioner. App. 1062 l. 17 – 1063 l. 12. Even though the defense put on a case at trial, counsel did not call Dr. Orłowski as a witness or submit a report prepared by him.

The PCR court's Order of Dismissal contained a finding that Dr. Baden's "account of the events of victim's death [was] not credible considering the evidence in the case." App. 1165. The PCR judge appeared to express some skepticism as to Dr. Baden's conclusions at the hearing on Petitioner's Rule 59(e) motion, asking if Dr. Baden is "the guy that said this is not how adults do it?" App. 1181 l. 25 – 1182 l. 1. The Order of Dismissal concluded that Dr. Baden's findings were "simply not plausible based on the evidence." App. 1166.

The PCR court also found that Petitioner could not demonstrate prejudice because Dr. Baden's testimony only "alluded to the conclusion that these injuries were caused by a small child, not an adult" and "Applicant presented no evidence whatsoever at the PCR hearing that anyone other than Applicant injured the child." App. 1167. The PCR court further concluded that Applicant's failure "to produce any witnesses, namely [the older child], which tended to show that anyone other than Applicant caused victim's death" required dismissal of his claim. App. 1167.

In affirming the PCR court, the Court of Appeals held “there is not a reasonable probability that the trial’s result would have been different even if the pathology evidence from the PCR hearing has been part of the original case.” Regarding the Order of Dismissal, the Court of Appeals pointed out that the PCR court did not employ the “traditional assessment of deficiency and prejudice” and noted the PCR court’s findings regarding Dr. Baden’s credibility. The Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of PCR based in part on Petitioner’s admission that he struck the child. The Court of Appeals “agree[d] with the PCR court that Petitioner’s admissions, in conjunction with the evidence presented at trial, constitute[d] overwhelming of guilt.” The Court of Appeals held “it is likely the atmosphere at trial would have been different if a forensic pathologist testified in the way Dr. Baden testified at the PCR hearing” but that it was unlikely the outcome would have been different.

### Discussion

Trial counsel failed to confer with a forensic pathologist prior to Petitioner’s trial. He consulted with a pediatrician who was frequently used by the solicitor’s office. He hired a DNA expert who was never utilized at trial. Even though funds were provided by Petitioner and his mother, trial counsel failed to discuss the matter with a forensic pathologist. The Court of Appeals opinion focused on whether the outcome of trial would have been different had trial counsel elicited testimony similar to that of Dr. Baden, but the inquiry should revolve around trial counsel’s deficiency to arm himself with the knowledge that could only have been provided by a forensic pathologist. Following an understanding of what someone like Dr. Baden would have testified to, trial counsel could have cross-examined Dr. Batalis better. He could have called a forensic pathologist to testify that Petitioner’s admitted conduct, a smack, was inconsistent with the injuries. He could have prepared for trial more efficiently and investigated

the child's sister. Without the theory offered by Dr. Baden, a renowned forensic pathologist, that the child's sister could have caused the child's injuries, there existed no reason to explore such a defense. Without that knowledge, trial counsel provided deficient representation and failed to present a defense that could have explained the child's death.

Trial counsel could have presented an expert to counter the state's findings.<sup>3</sup> Instead, Petitioner was the only witness who testified during the defense's case-in-chief. Consulting with a forensic pathologist would have made a difference in Petitioner's case, and the failure to consult and call a forensic pathologist at Petitioner's trial in a homicide by child abuse case constituted deficient performance.

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient, and the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant's case. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688–89, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625. To show counsel was deficient, the applicant must establish counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052; Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. To show prejudice, the applicant must show that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052; Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson, 325 S.C. at 186, 480 S.E.2d at 735.

An understanding of the injuries and subsequent autopsy from an expert forensic pathologist would have allowed trial counsel to investigate, prepare, and try the case armed with

---

<sup>3</sup> After the state rested, trial counsel indicated his intent to call two experts: Dr. Gibbs and Dr. Ricky Halovich. Neither testified at Petitioner's trial.

the necessary knowledge regarding complicated injuries such that the result would have been different. In particular, an expert forensic pathologist could have explained the inconsistencies between the child's injuries and the conduct admitted by Petitioner during the jail call.

Notably, Dr. Baden distinguished the decedent's injuries from the conduct Petitioner mentioned on the telephone during the jail call and in his statements to police. On cross-examination at the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Baden testified that "[n]one of the injuries I think here I would say is typical of a slap," thus separating Petitioner's comments from the alleged cause of death App. 1002 ll. 10 – 17. When pressed by counsel for the state about blunt force trauma, Dr. Baden proved why Petitioner suffered prejudice based upon counsel's failure to confer with and call a forensic pathologist at trial:

Q: Do you agree with Dr. Batalis that there is blunt force trauma in this case?

A: Yes

Q: Okay. And blunt force trauma can be created by hitting another object, not necessarily a stick? A floor? A wall?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. A hand?

A: Yes.

Q: An adult's hand?

A: Yes. **Blunt force in general, but not this particular blunt force injury.**

Q: But you don't know, because you testified that you weren't at the scene that night?

A: Yeah. That's why we do autopsies and that's why we look at photographs and the scene, as we do in every - - it's very rare for a medical examiner to be at a scene when the death occurs. But it's common for medical examiners to testify in court about it, both for defense and prosecution, because we get enough information from all of the different agency people, the police, the coroner, the medical examiner, the toxicology, that

we can then evaluate and see what we agree with and what we don't agree with and what the final opinions are.

App. 1002 l. 18 – 1003 l. 18 (emphasis added). In addition to reflecting the importance of having an expert witness and proving how useful they can be, Dr. Baden's above remarks illustrated the testimony that a forensic pathologist would have given at Petitioner's trial. The notion that "this particular blunt force injury" is not the result of an adult's hand contravenes the holding of no prejudice based on Petitioner's statements. Had counsel prepared the case sufficiently by consulting with a forensic pathologist, he could have incorporated the detailed and exculpatory testimony that such a witness could have offered.

Leaving no doubt as to both his conclusion and the benefit of having an expert at trial, Dr. Baden distanced himself from the suggestion that he was an expert-for-hire and instead proved the efficacy of hiring a forensic pathologist in this case:

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