STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO BERKELEY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001666

---

**RECEIVED**

**MAY 31 2017**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

JUSTIN R. HILLERBY,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Summary of Procedural History

In September of 2008, Petitioner Justin R. Hillerby was arrested following an investigation into the death of a twenty-two-month-old child. In December of 2008, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for one count of homicide by child abuse. J. Michael Bosnack, Esquire, represented Petitioner. On February 22, 2010, a jury trial was commenced in the Berkeley County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Petitioner as indicted and the trial judge sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. On February 26, 2010, Petitioner filed a motion seeking reconsideration of his sentence, and a hearing was conducted on the motion on April 27, 2010, with Judge Harrington again presiding. Thereafter, the trial judge issued an order affirming Petitioner's sentence.

Subsequently, Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. He was represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Following briefing and oral argument, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Hillerby, 2103-UP-300 (Ct. App. Filed July 3, 2013). The Court of Appeals issued its Remittitur on July 19, 2013.

On September 19, 2013, Petitioner, through retained counsel Jeremy A. Thompson, filed an application for post-conviction relief, alleging he was being held in custody unlawfully based on allegations of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel. The State made its return on December 30, 2014, requesting an evidentiary hearing. Thereafter, on August 27, 2015, Petitioner filed an amended application alleging the following additional grounds for relief:

1. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to consult with a forensic pathologist prior to trial and for failing to present the testimony of a forensic pathologist at trial.
2. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to question the forensic pathologist at trial regarding his qualifications and his lack of experience in conducting autopsies at the time he conducted the victim's autopsy.
3. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and to present a defense that an individual other than the Applicant killed the victim.
4. Trial counsel was ineffective for admitting prejudicial photographs of the deceased victim into evidence
5. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's instruction to the jury that they had two options on the verdict form and that both were guilty
6. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to renew his objection to the admission of the Applicant's statements into evidence.

On September 8, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was commenced in the Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas with the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., circuit court judge, presiding. At the start of the hearing, Petitioner expressly waived any and all allegations of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel and proceeded forward exclusively on the allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel as set forth in his amended application. In support of his application, Petitioner testified on his own behalf and presented testimony from: Dr. Michael Baden, who was admitted as an expert in forensic pathology; Ray William Nash, Jr., a private investigator; appellate counsel Tricia Blanchette; and his mother Vicky Clearman. The State presented testimony from trial counsel J. Michael Bosnak, Esquire. At the conclusion of the hearing, the post-conviction relief court requested proposed orders from both parties. Following a review of both parties' orders, the court denied and dismissed Petitioner's application by written order filed January 16, 2016. Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion to alter or amend, which was denied by written order following a hearing. Thereafter, Petitioner filed a notice of appeal.

### **Summary of Facts Adduced at Trial**

In September of 2008, Mother and her twenty-two-month-old son (“Victim”) lived in Summerville, South Carolina, with Mother’s eight-year-old daughter, Mother’s roommates (Eric Riggins and Brandi Mihill) and Petitioner, who had been dating Mother for approximately one year. (App. pp. 253-54; p. 276; pp. 295-96; p. 316; p. 572). Around 6:15 a.m. on the morning of September 15, 2008, Mother got up, left Petitioner in bed, sent her daughter to school, and then returned to bed and went back to sleep. (App. p. 303). At approximately 10:45 a.m., Mother got back out of bed and went to check on Victim because she had not yet heard him awaken for the day, and Petitioner followed her to Victim’s bedroom. (App. p. 224; p. 304). When Mother opened Victim’s bedroom door, Petitioner stated Victim was still asleep and advised her to let Victim keep doing so but to leave the door open so he could wake up naturally. (App. p. 304). Mother started to close the door but noticed something on Victim’s face. (App. p. 304). She walked over to Victim’s crib, discovered he was cold to the touch, rolled him over, and observed blood coming from his mouth and nose. (App. pp. 304-05).

After discovering Victim’s condition, Mother became hysterical. (App. p. 224; p. 306). Petitioner then called 911 and reported: “He’s bleeding. His face is bleeding. He’s not moving. He’s hard as a rock. He’s fucking dead.” (App. p. 224; p. 888<sup>1</sup>). Shortly thereafter, Grandfather, Mother’s father and Victim’s grandfather, responded to the scene after his wife received a call from Mother about Victim and found Mother sitting outside of the house crying. (App. pp. 211-

---

<sup>1</sup> Throughout this factual recitation, Respondent cites to the Final Brief of Respondent, which is included in this Appendix, because the Record on Appeal and accompanying exhibits were not included in this Appendix, but were properly before the Court of Appeals during Petitioner’s direct appeal, are not in dispute, and are ripe for judicial notice as adjudicated facts. Rule 201, SCRE. Moreover, the Record on Appeal is readily accessible as a public record on the South Carolina Appellate Court Public Index. Appellate Records for State v. Justin Hillerby, South Carolina Appellate Court Public Index, <http://ctrack.sccourts.org/public/caseView.do?csIID=28149>.

12; p. 306). After speaking with Mother, Grandfather ran into the house, went to check on Victim, and discovered he was not breathing. (App. p. 212; p. 306). Grandfather picked up Victim to try and resuscitate him but immediately realized Victim was deceased because Victim was stiff and cold to the touch. (App. pp. 212-13). A few minutes later, firefighters and paramedics from the Summerville Fire Department arrived at the residence, but they also were unable to revive Victim and confirmed he was deceased. (App. p. 306; p. 396; pp. 399-401).

Thereafter, law enforcement officers began arriving on the scene and secured the residence while Petitioner, Mother, Mother's parents, Mihill, and Riggins waited outside. (App. p. 213; pp. 339-40; p. 342; pp. 345-46). While they did so, Petitioner did not exhibit any outward signs of an emotional response but repeatedly told Mother he was sorry. (App. p. 213; p. 397; pp. 402-03). As they waited, Petitioner approached Captain George Ploth of the Summerville Fire Department and asked when they would know what had happened.<sup>2</sup> (App. p. 403).

Subsequently, Mother, Petitioner, Mihill, and Riggins were taken to the police department and separately interviewed. (App. pp. 282-83; p. 307). During his interview, Petitioner spoke with Detective Shannon Sharp and Sergeant Cassandra Williams of the Summerville Police Department in an open area for approximately two hours. (App. pp. 10-11; p. 25; pp. 28-29; p. 459-61). At the outset of the interview, Detective Sharp noted Petitioner appeared to be suffering from a hangover and smelled slightly of alcohol, but Petitioner did not appear to be intoxicated. (App. p. 31; p. 462). Prior to any questioning, Petitioner was advised of his constitutional rights, indicated he understood those rights, and signed a waiver form indicating he wished to waive his rights. (App. p. 30; p. 462; pp. 464-67). Petitioner was then verbally interviewed by Detective Sharp before taking a cigarette break when he stated he did

---

<sup>2</sup> During trial, Captain Ploth testified he perceived Petitioner's question and demeanor to be unusual. (App. p. 407).

not feel well.<sup>3</sup> (App. p. 468). When he returned, Petitioner stated he felt fine and wrote the following statement:

Went to pick up Rory stopped by Melissas first to see my son me and her argued a little went to Rorys picked him up came home first grabbed blaise to go to the pool I drove Jenn walked stayed at the pool all day about 2 or 3 noticed a bruze on his face figured he hit his head on the pool some how came home I started to feed the kids fed blaise first the Serena I told Serena to go to bed I let blaise stay up with me he spilt my drink on the table I grabbed him and pointed to the corner for 10 minutes I let him out he played for awhile still. I didnt have any milk so I gave him some corn dog bites he started to bob his head. I tried to get him to stand up but he wouldnt so I put him to bed. he was fine then. We woke up this morning to check on him and it looked like he was sleeping Jenn tried to shake him but he didnt move she rolled him over and he was already gone. I called 911 and tried to keep her away

(App. p. 468; pp. 471-72; 890). After Petitioner wrote his statement, he said he felt dizzy and was having chest pains, and he terminated the interview. (App. pp. 29-31; p. 42; pp. 472-73). Petitioner was then examined by paramedics and medically cleared, and he left the police department. (App. p. 29; p. 473).

After leaving the police department, Petitioner and Mother stopped by Mother's parents' house and then returned home. (App. p. 218; p. 249; p. 264; p. 307). After arriving home, Petitioner behaved in a nervous manner, appeared to be angry instead of upset, and researched secondary drowning with Mother as the possible cause of Victim's death. (App. pp. 249-50; p. 264; p. 283; p. 307). Additionally, he informed his roommates he was waiting for law enforcement officers to come arrest him because he believed boyfriends were always blamed in situations like Victim's death. (App. p. 264; p. 283).

---

<sup>3</sup> Earlier, Petitioner had stated he was feeling sick and dizzy while he was waiting with the others outside of Mother's residence, and he fell to his knees while standing in the driveway. (App. pp. 213-14; pp. 248-49). However, afterwards, he indicated he did not need any medical assistance. (App. pp. 213-14).

On September 16, 2008, Dr. Nicholas Batalis, a forensic pathologist and an expert in forensic pathology, performed an autopsy on Victim. (App. p. 518; p. 521). During the autopsy, he discovered Victim had suffered fourteen facial injuries, including numerous fresh bruises, along with nine skull injuries. (App. p. 524; p. 528; p. 548). Additionally, he located subdural hemorrhages and subarachnoid hemorrhages in Victim's brain, a bruise inside of Victim's ear cavity, and retinal hemorrhages in Victim's eyes. (App. p. 533; pp. 538-39). Due to the severity and number of the injuries, he determined Victim's injuries were caused by a significant amount of force and were not consistent with an accident. (App. p. 524; pp. 526-27; p. 530; p. 533). Based on his findings, he concluded Victim would have displayed immediate symptoms after sustaining the injuries, would likely have appeared unsteady or groggy, and died at some point between 9:00 p.m. on September 14, 2008, and 9:00 a.m. on September 15, 2008.<sup>4</sup> (App. p. 524; pp. 542-43; pp. 564-65). Ultimately, Dr. Batalis determined Victim's death was a non-accidental homicide resulting from blunt head trauma. (App. pp. 523-24).

On the following morning, Petitioner, Mother, Mihill, and Riggins drove themselves to the Dorchester County Sheriff's Office in order to take polygraph examinations in regard to Victim's death. (App. pp. 32-34; p. 45; p. 473; p. 496). After they arrived, Sergeant Raymond Dixon, a polygraph examiner with the Dorchester County Sheriff's Office, met with Petitioner and discussed the polygraph examination with him. (App. pp. 87-88; p. 495). At the outset of the interview, he questioned Petitioner to ensure he was not under the influence of alcohol or drugs. (App. p. 88; pp. 496-97; p. 505). In response to his questions, Petitioner informed the officer he

---

<sup>4</sup> Consistent with Dr. Batalis' findings, Dr. Michelle Amaya, an expert in forensic pediatrics, testified during trial that Victim's brain injuries would have prevented him from speaking, yelling, walking, or holding his head up, and she opined he would not have been able to function normally after the brain injury was inflicted. (App. pp. 566-67; p. 571; pp. 581-83).

drank a few beers and took sleeping pills on the preceding night but was not still under the influence of alcohol. (App. p. 88; pp. 596-97; p. 505). Sergeant Dixson then advised Petitioner of his rights, and Petitioner signed a waiver form indicating he understood his rights and wanted to make a statement without the assistance of an attorney. (App. pp. 89-92; pp. 497-501; pp. 503-04; p. 892). Sergeant Dixson then conducted a pre-polygraph examination interview and asked Petitioner if he inflicted any injury to Victim that would have caused his death. (App. pp. 92-94; pp. 506-07). Upon hearing the question, Petitioner declined to take the polygraph examination and indicated he only wished to speak with the officer.<sup>5</sup> (App. p. 34; p. 94; p. 96; pp. 506-07; p. 510). Petitioner then informed Sergeant Dixson he hit Victim with his knee and also admitted he may have grabbed Victim and shaken him a little. (App. p. 94; p. 511).

Thereafter, Petitioner asked to speak with Detective Sharp and was transported to the Summerville Police Department for another interview. (App. pp. 34-35; p. 60). At the outset of the interview, Petitioner was advised of his rights and again waived his rights by signing a waiver form. (App. p. 35; p. 59; p. 474; p. 892). Petitioner was then interviewed for approximately an hour and a half to an hour and forty-five minutes and wrote the following statement:

I ran out of my Room and he was running towards me I caught his head with my knee he was a little groggy and I was getting tired I tried to feed him but he kept nodding off I may have clipped his head on the way to his crib and maybe again on his crib I believe he hit his head at the pool early that day and probably the corner where I caught him all these together I believe is what caused it.

I was in my bedroom I grab the door jam to swing out into the hallway quicker and he was running into the hallway I caught the top of his head hard enough to throw his head down and his feet up. He moved slowly so I helped him up and went back into the room when I came out he was on the futon so I tried to feed him but he got more tired on the way to the bedroom I believe I clipped his head

---

<sup>5</sup> Unlike Petitioner, Mother and her roommates took polygraph examinations. (App. p. 33; p. 46).

in the hallway and maybe the crib too I was intoxicated and tried to memory that everything that happened when I put him to sleep and the last time I saw him alive.

(App. pp. 892-93). After Petitioner wrote his statement, Detective Sharp asked Petitioner several follow-up questions, and Petitioner admitted he grabbed Victim's shoulder and neck after Victim spilled a drink. (App. pp. 478-80; p. 893). Following his admissions, Petitioner was arrested for homicide by child abuse and incarcerated. (App. p. 53; p. 483).

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